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It is not surprising that Scotland has more sheep than people — 5,949,959 to be pracise, at the
last count. The Highlands offer grazing to about one third — 1,889,110 — which makes the sheep
population outnumber humans by about 5:1. Here, in one of the most comprehensive articles on
the subject, Malcolm Bangor-Jones traces the history of sheep farming in Sutherland.

The Coming of The Great Sheep
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The Early Beginnings

Mozt Highland tenants kept

tacksman’s son and formar

sheep but they were smell snd planter in Jemaica, becama
rather rapged. The first lwluman of Bemakuil In 1770
in Sutherland of & Introduc:

largar kind of sheep was in 1761
when “six ewe lembs and a rem
of an Englsh brasd'" wame
brought to Duntobin far the Earl
o1 Sutherdanc. In 1/67 e
Tutors of tha young Countasa of
Suthirland proposed an nguliry
into the Introduction of sheop
farming and the following yaar
ordarad John Campball of
Lagwine, ane of the plonsers of
shaep farming in tha Highlands,
10 report 25 to how *‘fit"” Sither-
and was for the rearing of ehoep.
However, rolhing furlle sppears
10 have come out of this initstive,

Indeed the fiwt sheap farm in
Suthedand was established on
the Reay estate In the 1770s,
Colonel Hugh Mackay, a

wm from Tweedsdaka o to the
Parph peniraula at Cape Wrath.
A fow yoars later sheep farm-
ng was established in
Stfoyka! by SirJohn Lockhary
Ross af 8alnagown, a
distinguished naval commander
and enargetic improver who
beleved that the highiand parts
of his estates would produce
greater revenue if put wndar
shoop. Although it is generall
assumad that the sheep which
Sir John beought nerthin tha late
1770°s wera placed an the Kin-
cardine side of Strathoykel, it
nows appaars that his sheeprun
included those part of Strath-
kel yn Enn the parish of Craich.
Sir John intraduced hlack-

The Year of the Sheep

Thus fer, rasistance 1o tha in-
troduction of shaep farming was
confined to tha theft of sheep.
However, in 1782, the year that
was to go down in tradition as
BV¥adna nan Caovach, or the Year
of the Sheep, thare ccourred a
l‘ull scale revalt. Although Ih!

‘Rozz -shire Insurrection””
originated in Easter Ross, it wes
not confined 10 that district,

revelt begsn on the pro-
perty of Sir Hector Munto of
Novar who in 1791 had kst part
of his gstats in Ross-shire to two
brothers, Allan and Alexander
Cemeron, farmers from
Lochaber, Disputes 8s to grazing
rights  with the neighbouring
small tenants soon felloweed and
Allan Cameron was assaullad.
On Friday 27 July 1792, at a
wadding in Strathrusdaie, tha
plan was concalved of callecting
togethar all tha sheap in Hoss
shire and Sutherland and driving
them south into Inverncss gl
On Sunday sroslsmations were
made at the local churches and
at tho publc houses in Lairg and
Creich, thers being no church
services in thosa twe places that
da

V.

Two days later about 200
paople from Ross and Suthedand
pathered st Brea in Strathoykel
and began 10 round up shesp, On
Thursdsy 2 August a large
erowd, led by Malcolm MacRob
in Attadsle, cams ta the shasp
farm of uppes Strathoykel then
occupied by Goddes's widow
Margarat, Soma 4000 shasp
mﬂ lambs were colected fraom

“‘avery quarer” and brought 1o
Kinlochalsh. Mrs Gacdes, who
livad at Caplich, went to
Kinlochalsh in an attempt 1o per-
£uada the “mob" to desist but
wias told by Hector Bathuns in
Littie Altass that it was a pity
she as an indivicual shouikd
possass so large a tract of farm
ta rear sheep on, whist numbers
of themn were without any place
or farm, and that they were
doterminad sho should not
possess it any longer as 3 sheep
farm.*

A further three to four hundred
sheep were token from the
Macgregors” farm of
Strsthcassley snc slso some
Irom Carr'pball farm at

i

hours of Sunday & Augus!
Maclecd, with the “"Gentlemen™
of Roze and thor followers along
with three companies of the 350
42nd Regiment, surprised and
defeated the rebels at Bosth,
sbout ten miles from Dingwall,

Eght men from Ross-shira
wers  subssquently  Tried &t
Invermess in Septamber for thair
part in the revolt, The fate of
those from Suthedand was to ba
differant. On 7 August warsnts
werg  issued sharitf.
dapute of Sutherland on a peti-
tion from eddes for tha
errast of aight men from the
cﬂmsa at Imlraﬂ. belonging te
Nac! Cadbol, Rosahall
and Bnln;an«n Hugh Laslio, the
procutater fiscal, sent two con-
stables with a “prepar party™ to
arest those involvee but no one
could be found.

Ata mestingon 14 st the
landowners and JPs of
Sutherlard pazzed a resolution
10 support tha =heriff in bringing
all the *““tumul Riaters to
.Iuww and, if noceesary, to
apply to the Commanderin-
Chief of Scotland for the
susistance of traops.

Howaever, the sccused and 16
others came 1o Darnoch, sur-
randared themasalve nd
appeared batore the sharilf court
on 28 August, Thay came from
Tumnaig, Tulmtarvach, lnver-
cassley, Altass, Linsides and
Invaran, All admittad taking part
but represontod that thay had
baan “‘alarmad with a Rumcur
that the Highland farma of this
County wore to ba set for Shaep
farms, and they consequently
remaoved.'* A number had
already been cleared from their
halaings. Alexander Hoss in Tur:
naig, and Robert Ross, Donald
Mackay senior, Donald Macka
Junior and Alexander Ross Smi
in Tutimtarvach had all been
removed 2t Whitsuncay  that
yeur snd had “'sincs got no place
of residance, other than to dwel
with their numerous famil
emall huts, havirg been obligsd
1o gl off \hw seversl stockings
of cattle st low prices, sand
uncertain if aven these can be
recovared.’”

They stated thet they had
bean “‘applied to by the
Highlandsrs™ o1 Ross to dive off

day
:be shaap were leke'\ 10 AMat in
Klncerdwe In what wal

the sheep from the Highlands
and theseby axpress thlr disap-

tion the s‘!een from Sumef!r!d
were taken south 1o the
Camerons” farm in
Strathrusdale, 19 be held thera
until gll the sheap in Ross-shire
had besn colectad.

Howaver, Donald Macleod of
Geanias, landownar, sheriff.
depute of Ross and tanant of a
substantal sheep farm on the
Balnagown ss5tata In Kincarcing,
had already informad tha govarn.
mant of the “Insurection’’ and
cbtained miitary ald, In the carly

ertan_ Genth

ware ta give their countenanca™

and It had basn axpactad that
the “*Kingdom would be alarmed
of thalr situation and that even
Gowvarnment would intarfare on
their bahalf.” But in the avent,
no support had been farthcom-
ing and the Sutherdand men
discovered that thay had been
“enanared to o lowlesa act”
This appears to have been as far
as the mattar was taken, for all
the men were alowed to return
heme.

taced sheep from Crawford
Maor, “# very hardy and thriving
race’’, which he improved with
remg from Tweadsd Even-
tuslly Sir John had & rleu o!
3000 shesp, Inckicing 1

hlkod-ﬂﬂ owes,

number of farme in
.:tmhwkolhud sither basnin Se
John's own hands or tensnted
by severw! other Ross-shite
landioras, all ef whom had used

thern as cattle grazings. in part KNG

then, the introducticn of cheop
was merely the replacemment of
ona form of commercial
livestock farming for snother.
However, the farm of
Kintochalsh, cccupied by a
teckeman. Wilkam Ross, snd s
few cottars, was cleared In

~

In 1781 S« John handed over
the lande of Kinlocholsh ond

O one can doubt that the introduction of commercial sheep farming brought momentous

changes to Sutherland. But for all the interest in the Clearances it is surprising how much
remains to be discovered. This is even true of areas such as Strathnaver where some of the most
notorious clearances were carried out.

It will be some time before everything has been learned about this period of Sutherland’s history.
The following account, which presents some new information along with more familiar material, is
therefore no more than a temporary one, to be improved upon as further evidence becomes

' Top Tup

from
MacRae,
Rheanbreck

This NCC tup lamb after
a Forrest Farm tup took
the sheep championship
for Donny MacRae, 62
Rheanbreck, at last
year's Lairg Crofters
Show. Holding the
champion is his father-in-
law, Mr John Davidson.

Sheep Farming on the Sutherland Estate

It was apparently the
difficulties experienced in
recruiting the 393rd
Sutherland Highlanders in
1799 which encouraged
the Sutherland family to
look more favourably on
the Introduction of sheep
farming.

The first strnra: by the astate
munsgement teok placa in 1801
whan the Rubha Stoer farms in
Asgynt were advertised far let
ting s sheep farms, although
tha lands were actually let the
following year to Danald Mac-

nald, owrer cf the fishing
station a1 Lochinver, with the
intention that they should be
oocupled by amall tenant fisher-
men.

However, in 1802 two Ross-
shirs [andowners, Duncan Munio
of Culcaim and Colons! John
Ross of Castiscraig, who had
aardiee mada an unsuccessiul
offer for 8 lerge sheep farm in
Leirg 8nd upper Strathnever,
ware givan & four-year lesss of
Colrenamfauran In Strathnavar
which they stocked with black-
aced sheep “salectsd from the
best stocks in Pertnshie and
Lochaber,”” though they soon
came into confict with the
tonants of Truderscalg owver
grazing rights.

With the nheritance of the
Brwﬁuﬂat fartune and exten-
sive nlopuly |n Enql;nd in

03, the

at tha mouth of the Naver with
tha remainder of the strath
divided into small farms.

The sama year parts of upper
Kicanan waere Wt 10 Lisulenent
Witiam Guon wha introduced
shsap stock on ta Kinbrace.
Gurn, however, woa 8 poor
farmer and quit in 1815,

The arrival of the twa
Morayshire “‘improvers’’
Wiliam Young and Patrick Sellar,

1 8 dismatic increass in
lhu Daca of cevelopment. Their

gement, with Young as
uctor and Sellar ag s essistant,
affactively commenced in 1810.
Ona of Yourg's first actions was
1o make 8 Wur of Kikdonan and
Strathnaver which bs found to
ba “only sdapted lor the shoop
system™ If a more “certain ed
highor ram I8 locked !Dt

Asrsynt, howevar, was the
first di nmel 10 ba reorganissd by
Young and Sallar. Five farms,
which were to ba entarad at
Whitsunday 1812, wore 4t te
the highest biddors 6t an suction
h:lﬁ in Galspie Inn in mbes

1. After fiarce compatition
al the farms wers let to lacal

peopls the timber of their houzes
10 83sist in the building n
tages for tham.”” Altogell
familiss weare cleared in 1812,
neady all of whom wers sccom-
modated either in the nland
townships of Knocksn and
Elphin or in the coastal
towmships of Culkein, Drumbey,
Inverkirkalg and Strathan.

The sama yaar the shaep farm
of Rhacire in the pedish of
Rogart was leased to Cugsl
Gilchrist of Ospisdala after ha
hod outbid Wilkam Munro of
A:huJ Nire familles werg
cleared from Rhacine and thraa
from Claggin of Mui, a numbar
of whom were allowed (0 re-
main as sublenants.

The major part of the
raorgenisation plarned for 1813
cantred on tha sheap farms of
Kicalmiill, let to Gabriel Faid,
tenant of Armadsle, and which
extandad lrom Loch Beors Lo the
Strath of Kildonan and included
all the sattlaments from the
wator of Frith to Kieaman, and
the farm of Torrish on the esst
sida of tha Strath &1 1o Major
Wllhn Clunes. The people of

— to
Murdoch Mackerzie, Ledmore ta
Rederick Mackanzie, Lodbeg to
Kenneth Mackenzie, Achmarce,
Ardvar and Glenleraig to William
ard James ia and
which included tha hill grou
of Inwverkirksig snd  Strathan,
to Donsld Mscdonsld in
Lochinvas,

It was lator reporied that the
Hag -

becama one of tha richast in tho
dom. The means was
available to carry cut a planned
rl:tganutm of the estote in-
volving the creation: of large
arsble and sheep forms, fizhing
villages and moorland sot
tlements. Colin Mackenzie, tha
family’s Edinburgh lepal agent,
Thought it possble 1o ciear the.
imerior of tha asiate for sheep
farms and resottha the pecpls on
hn mln whore thay  would

Salechy to Wikam Geddes, &
sheep farmer from Tummel
Bridge in Parthehire, and the first
of e “scuthem gracers’ to
<oms o Sutherisnd,

Sir John's experiment mat
with censiderable oppasition
hum the “’natives” and-Gecdes

suffered much from cheep
thefts. The winter of
1781-17B2 was ona of the

The main
a&m wm to bring the landiord &
vast increase in ront athough
the estate managemant wara
alzo persuadad that tha pecple
would benefit fnem the changs
to 1helr wiay o‘

In 1808 oxteﬂ: va ond
walusble shoop farms'" including
the forests of Klibeeck and Ben
Arming were advertised ss “well
wiarthy the sitantion of s respsc-

wiorst for o long time: mesl was tably sheep farmer” 1o whom

sold 1o ‘h' aeoanig of ““avary raasonable en-
- would be given

rent. mounted, In 1784, sftar o

““gavorsl hundreds’ of Geddes's
sheep hed Lesn stolen, pro-
ceadings were begun aganst six
tenants from Tos Ba
darosh and Inchbeath. The
sherlft granted wamants for the
risonmant of Hugh Rass,
John Dow
MacHomash and John Ross allas
McAlistar, all tanants in
Tnﬂuﬂv. h Rosa adas Hoc-
tor's san and Thomas Ross, both
tanants in Baddsroch, and

of Kinlechalsh in 1778 and was
raw tanant in Inchbeath.

_ Thiee wers never caught, hav-
ing “fled the country’’, but the
others were incarcerated in Dor-
roch Joil. Al were charged with
the arrears of rent and for pay-
ment of the mesl sold to them in
1783, Their housshold

@and possassions wera seized and
auctioned &1 Bonar on 6

Decamber 1784,
Tlh) sama year Geddes was
glven 8 19-.year leasa of

Kinlachalsh, Ssltachy and part of
tha hill grazings of Toscarry. In
1785 Gaddes Was put In posses-

sion of Toscarny, and

by tha landlord, Tha following
ynar 8 huge |Dlll’l later to be
known as the ''Grest Sheep
Tenement™ and taking in parte

d- of the parishes of Lairg, Rogars,

Clyne, Kildonan and a substan-
tial portion of Farr on the south
side of Loch Naver and with the
detached lands of Lettes
Loch Loyal, was let to the
MNorthumbecland shoeo farmars,
Adsm Mk;mn and Anthany
Marshall. The rent, zet at £1200
but rising to £1600 after three
years, wes thrse times higher
than the axisting ront of the
5 lands,

The crestion of the Great
Sheep Tenement involved the
clﬁaluru:u of same 300 familicz,

1 of whom were deared in
1607 aithough o few were
appointed s grasskeepors and
allowed to retsin  possession
of their houses for onathar yaar,
A good number oocided to
emigrate to America but the ship

and 140 passengars sari off
Newfoundland. The Sutherfand
family were much critizised for
these clearances ard, as mast of

those cleared were simply
crowded into Ihi:ling
ips, for the ii ¥ of

Glenmulck, the latter formerly
tenanted by Colonel Alexander
Ross of Calrossie. This extension
of Geddes's oparations
cainckied with tha creation of a
new sheep farm on the wast
bank of tha Cassley. to be
known as Strathcassiey and
which was let to the brothers
William ard James Macgregor.
Although a number of removals
wrers made from the settiements
of Rossal, Altemafecach and the
Croicks, zome tonants wers
sliowed to ramain ss cottars.

In 1788 Major Mackay Hugh
Balllla, propriater of tha adjoining

estata of Rosehall, let on &
35YI3| Iuso the lands of
Razail, Bad a' chreamha, Badin-

uqam Longwell and Delehmd,
covering some 12,260 acres on
the east bank of the Cassley, a5
a single sheep farm. Ten families
sre known to have boen
removed. The tenant was none
other than John Campbell of
Lagwins who had been asked to
repcrt on the S astate.

the resettiomant arrargements.
Ancther sheep farm also
crested n 1807 wes that of
Suisgill in Kidonan, let to
Thomae Houstor tacksman of
Lothbeg. following  year
mere farms in the “intenor . . .
particularly adapted 10 the
rearing of sheep and bisck cattle”
werd advertisad and tha famn
of Shinness, which marched
with the Great Shaep Tenemant,
was let 1o the former wadsetter
Donsld Matheson. Or his death
in 1811 the fam, which hed
baen extendad to incluca pert of
Mudals -in Farr a8 ~el as &
subleass of Ban Has on the Reey
estate, wes taken oser by his
son Duncen, an acvocata in
Edinburgh, and Mackay of
Rockfield, a RA>ss-shire
landowner ‘Who had made his
fortuna in India. In about 1818
tha partnerahip sutict the shasp
farm to Dugald Glchrist of
Ospisdale, a landioed with exten-
sive farming interests.
The fer change on

Campbed was criginally from the
uplonds of Ayrshire but
begun lessing sheep farms in
Argylishite and Pesthshire in the
1760%s. Both Geddez and
Cempbel wers representstive of
the large fsrmers with capitsl
sred enterprise who came 1o the
Highlands in sesrch of chesper

had lost although in

the estate nypc:ul to have boen

BIO a land
Burvayar, Mnmmm Meradith,
r&s OO 10 Make a survey of
Strathnavar and répert on ths
“probeble mesns of its further
nprovement’’. Meredith sug-
gestad the establisthment of
sheep farms on the esst side of
the steath and & 1own of vilage,

s 8y
thus g rather then kase thair land™

ard, indaed, some were ““in that
Tipa stste™ thet they did nat

“woll know what they were do-
ng.” Evan Yuung admittad that
aiter “"much serious discussion
during the day”’ thoro had boen o

gocnl daal of fun in the even-
Ings" with Gaeic sengs frem tha
tackzmen and “Auld Lang

yna'* from Sellar white Young
haranged everyong on the
benefits of water meadows and
menno tups. In lator years thesa
high rents were to prove to ba a
disastrous liability for tha
tackzmen. Kenr M ¥
of Ledbeg, for instance, had in
1811 rented holdings at £90 but
under the new arangaments ha
took on & sheep farm rented ot
E£550.

As maet of tha townships to
be clearad In Assynt were
occupled by sublenants. the
removals ware largely carrsd
out by tha tacksman after Young
had made a peracnal visit in the
Spring of 1812, Tha tacksmen
wera bound to allow the "“pocr

s Langwol

i @l

OWEVEr, WS Not at
nll happy with the naw
srrangemants.

On & January 1813 Ralph
Reid, manager for Atkinson and
Marshall, and James Hall from
Caithness, who had
boen called in 1o value Torrish,
carried out an inspection of part
of the farm. Later that day a
small ctowd ceme to the manse
of Kilgonan where Clunes was
staying and thad 10 persuade

nat to teke tha farm. A fur-
ther att was made the
fellowing morming. At the same
tima a crawd from both sides of
the strath mlheud to prevent
tha inspaction of the farm being
comploted.

Hall anc Reld, who stayed the
NPT 8t the house of John Tum.
bull, hard in Suisgll, h;d
bean wamed sid by the lime
crowd arrved had alresdy set olf
on thair horsses towsrds Strath
Haladale, Thirty men, however,
chasec tham as far a8 Achintoul

miles away,
e crowd turned their atten-
tian upan tha four shepherds left
in tha house at Sulsgil. Turnbull,
his family anc Jamas Armstrong,
a shepherd from Caithness, were
evmtmh sliowed to go frae,
when Jchn and George
Clough, shepherds in
Swlhbfwa wers persuaded out
of the houze they wem taken
scross Suisgill burn and set
down on ths grass where blood-
thirsly threats were made

uu-m:l them, Thay were,
hovever, lat «rdﬂndallhuugh
thair dogs were badly besten.

the 21at negmm ardved In
March the ‘“ricters™ decided ta
co-operste with the investiga-

The people then presented a tions

petition to the Marchionass who
passad it to Yourg. In the mean-
time a legal investigation was
underwiay but when the war-
rants citing various individua's to
sppear for examination at
Gaolspia lan on the A0th January
wera ignored, warrants for their

M arrest were issued. Donsld

Bannarman and two other sheriff
efticars did not 8ttempl (0 serve
the warants, being in fear of
thair lives from & largs crowd
which followad them on thair
prograss through Kidonan, and

marely laft copiass ordaring
the pacple to appear.

The following day Rodert
Mackid, lhu sherdf substitute,
Wiam Taylor, sheriff clark,
Thomas | Iw:tcu. William Yuw\g
and Patick Sellar went to
Kildanan after they had heard
that the peoplo wera pregored to
sign & bond for their peaceable
behaviow. A crowd of about

150 men met them at the D

schocihouss, refussd o sign
anything, turned down the
proposad rasattlamaents at
Armadale and nstead put for-
ward the promises aof land which
had baen mada at the tima of tha
raising of tha 93-d. Selar ex-
plained that these premises had
expired, which indeed thoy had.

On 3rd February & numbar of
tonants in Kidenan sent a lettar

higher rent for their l8ngs w.
this waz impossibie, to ba glvan
Ppossessiong elsowhers but with
hill grazings.

Cn 10th February a hrgo
crowd of men from Kilda
supportad by some lrom
Strathbrora came to Goispie
whers the nvestigation was te
oa hald. Attampis to gain sy
port from tha rest of Su!henlinc
and Caithness had bosn
unsuccessful as had the plan af low
drivirg the sheep cut of tha
counly; 8 move reminiscent of
1792, However, the crowd pro-
coedud 10 pravent tho amrost of
srveral of the men from Kildonan
and then refussd to disperse
aftar Mackid had sttempted to
get tham to leave,

It was abvious that the people
af Kildaran enjoyad considerable
SUppOrT amang the population of
Sutherland a5 @ whole, Conse-
quently, Georga Cranstoun, the
sheriff deputa of Suthariand,
came north and, after faling to
placate the poopin fant !or
troops. Whan a

. etrath

lr the meantima the planned
resottlament At Ammadals had
been abandoned by the estate
management snd & mors con-
cikatory atsitude edoptad. No
legal charges were brought, Tha
new arrangements, howaever,
went abesd, although a good

number families proferrad
sither to aoccept holdings on
other  wstates, partculardy In
Caithness, or emigrate with Lord
Selkirk to Conada rather than
move to crofts in the rescttic-
ment sreas,

It appesrs that quite a few
familios wore ullomn: to ramain

a5 subtanants for everal years.
But in 1B16 Torrish was
extended by tha claarance of the
townships both below Kileaman
and also on the opposile side of
tha strath,

Tho othar major shesp farm
created In 1813 was that of
Strath Carnalg in the parish of
omoch let to Coptain Kenneth
Mackay, tacksman of Torboll.

In 1814 tha fosus tumed to
Strathraver. In sccordance with
Young's plans for the district
only one sheep farm was
eatablished that year. P:hll:xsh
which wse to include all the
towmships on the east=de of the
from Ravi
Truderscsig snd also
and Garvault in Kidonan, was
to Patrick Sellar afser ha had out-
tid bath the existing tanants and
{ John Paterson. a nhnp tarm
manage in Caithness, at an auc-
tion held in Golepio Inn on 156th
Decembar 1613, The tenants
ware only prepared to po as high
a& E250 while Sellar offorad o
yearly rent of £3€0 for the first
savan vyesrs and £410
tharaaftar,

Tha zlearance of Rhiloisk teok,
place in two stages. In 1814 28
'amllbl waré ramoved from the

townships, the remaining
42 'a'nﬂlu inchuding 168 in
Resal, being alowed to stay on
subtanants. 11 was Sellsr's
role In this first clearence which
lad to hs tral cn 23rd April
1816 at which Donald Macleod,
the famous author of Gloomy
, was nomed 65 @
witness for Sellar's detenca,
However, prior to the mnl Sallar
lwd*wd'r necessary
legal steps te clear the
sublenants from the farm.

The lsnds of Tubeg of Mudalke

and Dinachoire in upper

owerl

THE WIDENING SPHERE

Elsewhere in Sutherland the introduction of sheep
farming continued. The Mains farm on the Strathy
estate of George Honeyman, l.md Armadale, was
advertised in 1788 for letting as a “’sheep and grazing
farm’" and although it does not appear t !o hl\re t':oarl

i arm 9

occupied solely as a sheep farm the

of Armadale soon was.

when traops ware brought in
after the shorift officers had
again been deforced. lronically
Sutherland went  banknupt in
1822 and the farm was broken
up 'nlo lﬂ\lll tanant townships
and s olos

First advertised in 1790,

Armadale was let in 1794 on a 19-year lease to
Androw Korr who stocked the farm with Cheviots,
possibly the first in Sutherland. In 1797 the farm was ©n

taken over by the Reids fro
Reid later married a daugh

m Northumberland. Gabriel
ter of Mackay of Bighouse

and became one of the leading sheep farmers of the
north. A number of families clearad from the interior

of the sheep farm were
Armadale and Portskerra.
A small shesp farm was

resettled on the coast at

grazing
Lech Si-v Later, however, all
1he grazings were held by
Gichrist of Ospisdale.

The first intredustion of ihnnﬂ

on tha Bighouse £51at0 ap|

10 hawe tsken place in 1
when a sheep farm was
established in upper Strath
Halladsle. Eighteen familias wera
clesred: they had been ing
£185 rent while tha sheep farm
was lat for £400,

The Sutherland estete

township of Dubh Clash, near
Lochnver, which was astab-
lished sz a sheep farm in 1800
by Murdoch Mackerzie in Strons-
chrubie in partnership with Knno
math Mackanzs in Ledbeg. Oni
of the five subtensnts charged !o
be removed, a Roderick
od, refused the holding he
had bean offerad in Kirktown at
the head of Loch Assynt on the
grounds that it was inlend and he
was “always & man for the
fishing™. Howevaer, he still did
not remove whon offerad an
alternstive passession in Culag
and chosza to move to Brackloch,

Roderick’s brothar, John, who

over, were

drive him off; an

Goorge D

bolonged to the Murros of
Py was d for

by P
in 1785 on tha Purosse astate.
Prontanach, & grazing cr shailk
formarly attached to the farm of
Pulrossie, was ideatified as
being the most suitable situation
for & sheep farm by Andraw
Thomson from Berwickshire,
then acting as farm mansger for
the Dempstars.

The sheep farm resmained in
Dempster's hands until 1804
when Dunzan MacGregoe at
Tutimtarvach, tsnant of Glan-
cassley, tock a 19-year lease of
ﬁ:lrouu.-, and the “Sheep walk

grazing of Prontenach™ with
ils stock of 300 Cheviots ™
thriving condition'’. On
MacGregor's entry the lantma
of the m ring farms ob-
jected on the grounds that part
of the sheep farm was located
on their common, This stemmad
from the fact that much of the
hill greund abova Bonar was a
commaonty over which tho
astatas of Skbo, Alrdens and
Craich had rights of ru
and which waa only divided out
in 1835,

MacGregor geva up Pron-
twenach aftar & faw yaars and the
sheep farm was taken owver by
‘Wa'ter Ross, terant of Over-
skibo. Whan Ross went bankrupt
Prontanach raverted to being a
summer grazing for catte and
horses but it was later jet,
presumably as a sheepwalk, to
Dugald Gilchrist of Ozpisdals.

In 1788 the estate of Gruids in
the parish of Lairg, wl

3

latting 88 cattle andior sheep
tarms. Tha astate was than be-
ing administared by the two
trustees of Gunn Munro
whao had gone bankrupt when
tracing as 8 merchant in London

jor to his inheritarce in nas
nnes Munro, who succeadad in
1808, was forcod, on account
of the continuing financial dif.
ficuites of the family, to appoint
sn Inverness lawyor as hia
trustee. The varicus trustees
were no doubt keen to let the
astats 10 the best
althaugh they were hempered
by only being sble to grant
redatively sheet leases.

The astate was relet in 1803
ard in 1810 the “extensive and
walkknown sheep farms™ of
Croarich, Arscaig and Salachy on
Loch Shin were sdvertised for
latting 8gain the foliowing yesr.
Amcalg was later let 10 John
MacGragor at Pulrossie, brother
71 to Duncen MacGregor &t
wage Pulrossie and Glencassley.

In 1818 Piterxis, Claone! snd
the shaep farms on Loch Shin
ware et to Captain John
Sutherland, Some of thess
haldings had aleady besn cleared
and more ramovals folowed in
1818, Hawavar, when, In
1820, further cloarances wera
: env alter-

CC0! tian  bel
offered tha shardf oﬂ‘mm were
defarced and driven off without
their clothas, The removals wera

h only effected the following year

advantage thy

not Hugh Ross, the
Sutherland factor wha in 1788
had written of a "I(lnd Mﬂgn for
sheap farming’’ sweepl

northarn Highlands, wnnrqwrlv
not in favour, all

sheep farm was em!ud the
fallowing year at Killin on Loch
Brora, Despite sttempts to let it,
the farm remained in the
Iunamd n hands until sublet to

Hugh Mascpherson in Drom in
1804, ln 1732 offers were
made for shesp farms in the
parishes of Lairg and Ageynt but
eslats mansgement were
not temoted and it was left to
the local tacksman farmers to
lead the way.

The tscksmen ware already
grestly involved in the rearing of
cattle far the droving trade but
s the pricas of wool and mutton

toes many bogen to turn tJu:'r
atlention to sheep farming. bn
Assynt sheap flocks were placed
on the farms of Mhmor-
Eddrachalds end Tumore by local
1eckemen in the late 17903, As
A rasylt subtenants were clesred
aven  though !l\e Sutherand
estata

te

action which brought the wholo
affsir to the asttenton of the
ostete monagement. Evontually
in 1808 Ru’f-rirk weas forced to
a in
od by a panel
of throa tacksmen 1o be *‘ful fair

and Nll accommedation”
Simiar events wers uldng
plnee on the Reay estate. There,
the tacksman, who had sirsady
claarad manvof thair subtenants
to make wary for cattle, bagan to
turn thelr attantion 10 shaep n
the zamo way as their Assynt
rnm: 5. Ora of tha earliast
illiam Munro of Achany
w had _taken a leass of
Auldinriny i ln 1787, Shasp wara
introduced in combination with
catthe on the farm of Glendhu,
held by Colin Macdiarmid, as
subtenant to M:caay af
ouse, but in 1794 taken
over by Alexander Campbel of

Barcaldine,

Tht ever-l effect of this pro-
judged from the
llct lhn In Asgynt between
1774 and 1811, a pericd of
18pid populeion growth, the pro-
ponion of the Mwl-!mn Eving

10 curb the powar of the
tackamen by laylng down that
any subtenant wha was cloared
had to be provided with 8
possession of equal rent and
walue'” elsawhaore in the parish,

o 'When tacksman tried to avoid

thair obligations conflict was
inavitablo.

Ona such case concemad the

farms  dropped
!rom 28% 1o I41b Had the
©313ta managaments of the Reay
and Suthardand estates not in-
atituted reguiations curbing the
E:wnr of tha tacksmen, It is pro-
ble that by the tme of tha first
“‘officlal’ clearances there
would hava been hardly eny
subtanants living on the
tacksman farma.
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Strathnavar wara in 1314 jat ta
Captain Kenneth Mackay,
tacksman of Torboll. However,
this farm, later known as
Mudale, was only cleared bet
woan 1819 and 1821,

Young and Sellar's manage-
ment wis nat a grnrn RLCCass.
Young falled to attend to the
detaded executicn of his, gran.
dosa schemes while Sellar was
clearly on unsuitable person ta
represent the estate in ity
deslings with the psople. Their
replacement was largely the
doing of Jsmes Loch, cominis-
sioner to the Sutherisnd family
snce 1812 and ore of the
foremost estate managers of his
time.

Although Loch may ba sald to
have inhesited tha policies of
Young and Sellar and indesd
thelr predeccassors, he was,
naverthaless, convinced of tha
rocessity for further clearances.
The difference betwean Loch
and tha others lay in the careful
planning and orderly manner in
which Loch intended the
clearances to be caried out, For
this reason it was notuntl 1819
thst the finel reocrganiastion of
the estate was bagun

The local background 19 the
changes in Assynt consisted of
the fact that Charias Clarke, the
shaep farmer a1 Glendhu on the
Reay estate, had in 1818 taken
over the large sheep farm of
Achmoie aftar the previous ta-
nant, James Scable, had gone
bankrupt in 1817 and also the
small adjoining farm of Little
Assynt and the farm of Cromait
in the heights of Aszynt formerly

Mackenzie,
Inverkirkaig prior to 1812,
Clarke had been security for
both Scobe and Mackenzis and
the sstats mansgemant decided,

on sccount of his “‘active exer-
ticns' and possession of stock
worth £10,000 to affow him 1o
take over thek ferms, The same
yaar ha als0 entered possession
of tha gastarn halt of Unapool as
subtanant ta lsaac Jopling who
by than had cansed all attempts
Assynt martle.

the two
halves of Kirktown, fermerly oc-
cupied by the minister and 29
subltenants and, sccording to the
factor, yielding the “finest
pasture imaginabie’. The foliow-
ing year a further 29 famifes
were cleared when Clarke
entered nto full pessssson of
Unepool, although some weee
@llowad 10 rémpin é% sublanants.

In the maantime the rann of
Inchnadamph had bec va-
cant through the hanxmp(rv of
the tenant, George Mackonzio of
Leckmelm, and, apart from a
small possession 5ot asda for
the Inn, was added to
Stronechrubie sheep famm.

The gast farms to be affectad
were Loch Boannach, Bracklozh
ard Bod a Ghrisnan — a district
dascribed by the fector as “‘by

Previous Page)

far the pm:rcsl and most
miserable in the parish™ but
which he reckoned would make
an “‘excellent winterirg'". After
being cleared in 1B21 Loch
Boarnach was taken by the
factor, Gaorge Gunn, who pro-
ceeded to-expanc his sheep far-
ming operatons, bacoming ta-
nant of Little Assynt in 1829
and taking over Achmore shaep
farmin 1B31.

Two naw shaep farms wera
created in Strathnaver n 1819
— Skelpick on the east side of
the Navar ard kt to John Pater.
son who had made an unsuc-
cassful bid for Rhiloisk in 1813,
#nd Langdala on tha nppasita
bank and fot to Pamick Selar.
Langdale Included not anly the
oid farm at Langdale, formerly in
tha possession of Robert Gordon
who had gone bankruptin 1817,
but also a¥ the other townships
from Grummore in the south to
Apigill near the mouth of the
Naver, with the sddition, in
1820, of some lands adacent to
Borgisbeg bought from Lord

Y.
The regettlement arrange-
ments for the 250 families
clesred in 1819 1822
necessitated that Strathy Point,
a part of Armadals farm which
woa In the hands of Willam
Inngs of Sandside, be repos
$0880d, Innes agreec to rein
quizh theso langs in return for
which the sheep farm of Ar-
madale was corsiderably ex-
tended by the clearances of
somao 30 famiies from the inland
townships of Dail teine,
Achrugsn, Bowside, Dallangwall
and Brarathy.

The further reorganisstion of
Kildenan includsd the extension
of the existing sheap farms and
the crestion of an sntively new
ong, In 1819 tha lands betwaen
tha Rivers Helmsda'e and Frith
ware added to Reid’s farm of
Kicalmklll. The same year the
sheop farm of Knackfin, situated
batween the existng farms of
Sulsgll and Rhioizk and bounded
an the the River
Heimadale, was established for
Thomas Houston, formerly 1e-
nant of Lothbeg, and the new
possessor of tha arable larm of
Kintradwell as wel 83 Ribigil
sheep farm on the Reay astate,

A total of 128 families were
cleared from townshigs in
Kidonan in 1819, The following
yesr 50 mara families ware
claated from tha tewnships
around Kildanan itself when
thosa lands were added to
Clunez” farm,

There wera two othsr shesp
farmz  established in  esstern
Sutherland in B
Sciberscross, let to John Hal
from Roxburghshire, and the
smaller farm of Mosvich. lat to
Patrick Sellar. The clasrance of
Morvich which included 28
familias from Waster Aberscross
and 23 from Easter Abarscross,
was corred cut In 1819 while
the clearances in Clyne satendsd

over thres years with 42 families
removed in 1819, 86 in 1820
and 34 in 1821,

Although the use of fire to
destroy the houss timbers was
found 10 bé @ necessary step 10
pravant the pacpla reocoupying
theit homes, it wes 8n sction
which atracted & good desl of
bad pubdicity for the estate
managament and the Sutherlsnd
famidy oceived 8 number of
anonymous lettars, One such let-
ter rafarrac to the Countass &8 a
""damned cid cat” who deserved
“to ba warrikes anc bumt, for
burning out tha poor
Highlangers”,

Dezpite the nctivities of the
Sutheriand and Transatlantic
Friendly Association and the
presence of disturbances on
neghbeuring estates, the clear-
ancas of 1B psszer  off
relatively peacefully. However,
in 1821 the paople of
Ascollemore in Strathbrora put
up & congiderable rasstanca and
it required the assistance of
troops befora thalf remaval was
affactad.

Tha inmant lcok on the
facas of buyers around
tha sales ring ot Lairg.
whaen 32,600 lambs went
through in ane day, Sellers
had plenty to smile about
later, when geod pricas
wore obtained last August

o

Sheep Farmmg on the Reay Estate

After the death in 1797 of the

Hugl\, Lord Feay, his successor, Lord Er!: made

gr with his

1g the existing

Ieanes Georgs Brown, a well known land surveyor
from Elgin, Irspected the estate and in July 1799

“*extensive grizings and farms®’ which ’

‘would main-

tain an immesse number of sheep as well as black
cattle, and merit the attention of those who wish to

rear and deal extensively',

the following year.

However, the sad winter of
17991800, wiich pravented

*saveral enquirers” from visiting
the astate, the fait that soma of
the local tacksmen wers absant
on miitaty sarvice, and also tha
refusal of the yossessors of
Dalnskeil to rafnguish tha farm
without being ortiwed to do so
by tha Court of Sisslan mace it
necessary for tha new
Brrangements 1o be postponed
until the next yes:

In July 1800 it was advertised
that many “‘cokmrated” fams
on the Heay estatras well a3 the
Reay Forast whidi, it was con-
sidered, cculd tself pasture
20,000 “of the lager of Chaviot
breed of sheep™, were 10 be st
oz choop farmz. As the whole
estate was oul of eass Locd
Reay intended that the farms
should be arramed 'S0 88 10

were advertised to be let

attord 1o aach tha propar propoc
tion of upland summar pastura,
and of safo lowland wintering,
along the sea sheee.'' In canche
zicn, it was clamed that “a
more favourable apportunity for
farmers of capital and spirt,
either in the agricultural or
grazing lne, of baing amply ac-

commodated, has not occurred
for goma time.
Lerd Resy, whose usual

residence was in London, came
north 1o soend the summer
monthe 81 Tongua and raceive
offars. A numbeér of sgraements
with tenants were mada in
August 1800 fer antry the
following year but progress was
not as good as kad been an
ticipated and in 1801 Lord Reay
asked John Dunlcp of Moreham,
in Ayreshire, to take charge of
the estate ““for the purpose of

ir 3 & new and more
mwuw g system of manage-
mant.”

Az an Inducement Dunlop was
offered the choice of sny farm
on the p5tate a1 8 Mmoderate rent
and in consaquance sccepled 3
67-yoar loosa of Balnakeil,
formerly possessed by Donsld
Forbes as succossar to his late
father-naw, Roderick Maclaod,
and the lands of Parph which had
baBn possessed by tha lata Col-
onel Mackay of Bighousa,
Duniap’s paricd of manzgement,
however, lastad orly a year.

Aost of the sheep farms were
taken by former tacksmen an the
estate — Auldinriny by William
Munro of Achany, Glencoul by
Charles Clarka, Friboll by Donsid
Mackay, Keoldsle by John
Clarke, Ribig® by Donald Forbes
and Skarray by Captsin John
Mackay. Apan from nmlaa the
anly other 'strangers’” ware the
Qrrs, tenants of Mussal, Merkan
and Brigizgll, and in 1803 they
gave up thase lands in faveur of
Donald Forbes ard Aloxander
Cameron from Ress-shire.

Tha financial benefit to Lard
Resy may be judged from the
fact that the estata rental, which
had skeady crept up from £1321
in 1797 o £1903 in 1800,
incressed to £2918 in 1802,

Batween 1805 and 1809 the
arrangaments wers extensively
modified. A numbar of
agreoments wore renogotistod
to take in additional lands, either
whoe townships or maraly hill
qgrazings, and also to place much
higher rents in the shoep farms,
For instance, in 1808 Charles
Clarka was given possession of
Mavidy and Kylestroms in addi-
tian to his lancs of Glencoul and
Glendhu, His lesase was still to
torminate in 1815 but the rent
was increasad from €140 to
£380 for 1808-1811 and to
£480 for tha remaining yesrs.
Largely a2 a tesult of this pro-
cese between 1804 and 1809
the rantal of the Reay estata rose
from £2978 to £4426.

Inavitably, both the establish.
mant and extension of the Reay
sheep farms wers sccompanied
by clearancas, although many
families wera sllowed to remain
for some yeers 55 subtenants,
albait with recduced grazing
rights. Lerd Raay’s interest in the
kelp industry demanded that
most of those who wers cleared
wiere re:
coestal townships, for instance
around Scourie and on the nor-
thern share of Lozh Inchard,

The leazes of all the sheep
farms exceptng Balnaked and
Skarray fell cut in 1815 and,
witl Mhe prce: of meat and wool
at o high, it was o
goldsn umwtuwitv 10 increase
shasp rents atill wgher. Charles
Clarke ctitalned snother 13-year
lease of Glandhw but 8t 8 yesrly
rent of £1400 for the liest five

ars ard £1600 theresiter,

Isewhere there were some
changes Donald Forbes
formarly at Ribiglll bacams
tenant of Meiness, John Clarka
moved from Keoldale to Erribol,
Mackay Scobie formarly at
Meiness was given possassion
of Keoidale, while Rbigill was
taken by Thomas Houston,
tanant of farms on tha
Sutharland estste. In 1820
Dugald Gilchist becsme tenant
of the grazings of Ban Hee.

Lord Fesy teok a direct in.
tarast in ghesp farming when he
went Into partnership with
Wiliam Munro of Achany in the
farmz of Badnabsy and
Aultniring {a substantial part of
these farms formed what
became known as Scourie shaep
farm). Ralph Reid. who had been
in the employ of Atkinson and
Marghall, was appointed
manager: one of his first
priorites being to replace the
mixture of Blackface and
Chaviet with 8 wholly Cheviot
stocking.

Tha sgricultursl depression
which followed the and of t
Napolsonic \War was partculsrly
sovers In its effacts on the Reay
estate. In spite of rent reductions
a number of shasp fermers, in-
clucing William Munro of
Achany, Charles Clarke snd
Donsld Forbes, went bankrupt.
Lord Reay had relinquished his
share of Scouria shaap farm In
1818 but wos forcod to toke the
flaér;.back into his own hands In

The extension of shosp farm-
ing, howewer, continued after
the Reay Country was baught by
tha Suthadand famiy in 1829,
Jamas Andérgon, the fish mer-
chant at Rispond who hald a

number of ferms on & leass
Elnntedln 1818, dacided to tun

& attgntion 1o mew lurmmu
Hotwesn 1839 and 1841 he
cloared 32 families lrn-m Varous
farms but when he attemoted to
evict a further 31 famifies he
wias met with strang rasistancs,
The military wara caliod in with
the result that the peaple were
oven a respite until 1842, The
whole episcde was highly
embereszing to the Duke of
Sutheriand.

The other major change
cantred on Socurie sheap farm
which hed come into the posses-
slon of Evander Maclver, factor
for the Scourle district, The farm
mostly comprised several
anciently cleared townships,
such as Clashmors, Clalafeam,
Trantlamere and Trontlabag, but
was extended by the clearance
M ¢ight tenants from the siand
of Handa in 1848 aleng with
soms of the townships from the
neighbouring mainland.

Conclusion
The history of the introduction of sheep farming in Sutherland is
much more than the story of tha Sutherand Cloarances. As may bo
gathered, the establishment of sheep farming was both earfier and

more extensive than is often
The

assumed.
lords wera invalved from the start. either taking a direct

interest by running cheep

farms on thoir own

sccount

or by
reorganising their ulmu Ind lewnn farms to llﬁﬂm!lal tenants.

But it is also

the local

the of
tackemen in -mcdnonn lhnn flocks onto thair existing holdings.
Morsaver, it is evident that tecksman provided a significant prwom-
the ne' Both

tion of the

mmm ware
aheap farmi

ing.
Thare h no  doubt that mo introduction of hs:mp. whathes by
1

by the finsncial mm of

of the

small ulunlrv. Tha mnmuh which these cloarances were carried
out has not baen examinad in datall hare, bunM hmm of nlm and

resistance suggests that the

t readily aco

people
changes to their way of ke which ware omﬂoned by the cmhu

of the shesp.




